THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

MAY 25 2016

SC Court of Appeals

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-42-1578
Appellate Case No. 2016-000177

WADETTE COTHRAN and CHRIS COTHRAN,..... Respondents,

v.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE
INSURANCE COMPANY and ROBERT TUCKER,
Defendants,

Of which State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance
Company is the Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Charles R. Norris
Robert W. Whelan
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
151 Meeting Street / Sixth Floor
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 853-5200

*Counsel for Appellant, State Farm Mutual
Automobile Insurance Company*

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the circuit court err in holding S.C. Code § 38-77-144 precludes and invalidates an insurance policy provision providing that PIP insurance is excess over workers compensation insurance, where such a ruling is inconsistent with binding case law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was filed on April 17, 2015 in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas.¹ The Plaintiffs claim that State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company ("State Farm") breached a contract of insurance and a duty of good faith and fair dealing. (R. pp. 19-20). On August 28, 2015, the parties filed a Stipulation of Facts. (R. pp. 26-27).

On November 17, 2015, Judge Manning signed an Order granting the Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment on their breach of contract claim and denying State Farm's Motion for Summary Judgment on the Plaintiffs' breach of contract claim. (R. p. 14). The parties were sent a copy of the signed Order by email from Judge Manning's office on November 18, 2015. The Order was filed with the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court on November 30, 2015. (R. p. 2).

On November 30, 2015, State Farm submitted a Motion to Reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. p. 123). Counsel sent a copy of the unfiled motion to Judge Manning on November 30 and emailed a copy of the filed motion to Judge Manning on December 4, 2015. Judge Manning's Order denying the Motion to Reconsider was filed on January 26, 2016. (R. p. 16). State Farm received notice of the Order by email from the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court on January 26, 2016. State Farm's Notice of Appeal was served on the Plaintiffs on January 28, 2016 and was filed by the Court of Appeals on February 5, 2016. State Farm received the transcript of the October 29, 2015 hearing on February 5, 2016.

¹ Although Robert Tucker was listed in the caption as a defendant, he was never served with the Complaint, and is not a party to this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

By virtue of stipulation there are no material facts in dispute. Wadette Cothran was injured in a work-related motor vehicle accident, and her medical expenses were paid in full by her workers' compensation carrier. (R. p. 26). Cothran's State Farm insurance policy provided personal injury protection ("PIP") coverage with limits of \$5,000. (*Id.*)

State Farm paid Cothran a portion of her unpaid lost wages under the PIP coverage,² but denied payment for her medical expenses as they had been fully paid through workers' compensation. *Id.* State Farm's denial was based on the following policy provision:

Workers' Compensation Coordination

Any Personal Injury Protection Coverage provided by this policy applies as excess over any benefits recovered under any workers' compensation law or any other similar law.

(R. p. 40).

The parties stipulated that if the above provision did not violate S.C. Code § 38-77-144, then no remaining PIP coverage existed, and State Farm was entitled to summary judgment. (R. p. 27).³ Therefore, the sole issue before the circuit court was whether this provision constituted a "set-off" prohibited by S.C. Code § 38-77-144.

² Cothran's PIP insurance covered 85% of her lost earnings. (R. p. 38). Her workers' compensation carrier paid for 66% of her lost earnings. *See*, S.C. Code § 42-9-10. Therefore, even though PIP was excess over Cothran's workers' compensation coverage, State Farm owed 19% of Cothran's lost earnings. State Farm paid this amount, \$991.00, to Cothran. (R. p. 27).

³ Due to a typographical error, paragraph 10 of the stipulation of facts incorrectly referenced section 38-77-140 instead of section 38-77-144.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal concerns a determination of coverage under an insurance policy, and thus the action is one at law. *Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Prioleau*, 359 S.C. 238, 241, 597 S.E.2d 165, 167 (Ct. App. 2004). Additionally, “[w]hen an appeal involves stipulated or undisputed facts, an appellate court is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to those facts,” and “the appellate court is not required to defer to the trial court's legal conclusions.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

The parties have stipulated that “[t]here are no material factual issues in dispute with respect to the plaintiffs’ breach of contract claim and the sole matter before the Court on that cause of action is whether the policy provision [at issue] violates section 38-77-144.” (R. p. 27). Thus, the Court should review, de novo, whether the circuit court properly applied the law without deference to its findings.

ARGUMENT

There is a narrow issue before the Court—the meaning of the word “setoff” as used in S.C. Code § 38-77-144.⁴ The South Carolina Supreme Court thoroughly examined this meaning in *State Farm v. Richardson*, 313 S.C. 58, 437 S.E. 2d 43 (1993). The Supreme Court considered the legislative intent behind the statute and “found that the Legislature intended the set-off prohibition of section [144] to apply **only to**” a tortfeasor's setoff of a plaintiff's PIP benefits from a verdict against the tortfeasor. 437 S.E.2d at 45 (emphasis added).

As *Richardson* is binding authority, the circuit court should have followed it. Additionally, the reasons given by the circuit court for granting summary judgment to the plaintiffs do not survive scrutiny.

⁴ The language of section 144 was previously located at 38-77-145; however, the language is substantively identical, and for consistency, it is referred to as section 144 throughout.

I. The circuit court erred in not following *Richardson*, as its determination of the Legislative intent behind section 144 was dispositive.

A. The case turns on the meaning of the word "setoff" as used in 38-77-144.

The parties stipulated the sole issue in the case is whether a policy provision providing that PIP coverage is excess over workers compensation coverage violates S.C. Code § 38-77-144's statement that PIP is not subject to setoff. Resolving that issue depends on the meaning of "setoff" as used in section 144 and whether the excess provision falls within that meaning.

B. *Richardson* dealt with this precise question.

In *State Farm v. Richardson*, an insured argued that a PIP anti-stacking policy provision violated section 144 because it was a setoff. 313 S.C. 58, 437 S.E. 2d 43 (1993). The Supreme Court examined section 144 and its legislative history to determine whether the policy provision was the type of setoff meant by section 144. *Richardson* determined the Legislature intended the word to have a single meaning—setoff referred to a *tortfeasor's* setoff of the plaintiff's PIP benefits against a verdict. The Supreme Court noted that "a Conference Committee report adopted by both Houses of the General Assembly just before [the bill] was passed" stated that PIP "may NOT be assigned or subrogated and **may not be setoff [from the tortfeasor's liability coverage.]** (Bracketed material in original)." *Richardson*, 313 S.C. at 61 n.2, 437 S.E.2d at 45 n.2 (emphasis added).

C. *Richardson's* interpretation of section 144 was not dicta.

The circuit court held that *Richardson* was "inapplicable" because it involved stacking. (Order at 8.) However, the question answered by *Richardson* was the same question before the circuit court—what did the Legislature mean by the word "setoff" in section 144? The *Richardson* opinion consists solely of the Supreme Court's asking, analyzing, and answering that

question. That the underlying facts in *Richardson* concerned a different policy provision does not change the weight of *Richardson*.

In other words, *Richardson's* determination that setoff referred only to a tortfeasor's liability was not dicta. Dicta is a statement not necessary to a court's decision. See *Nash v. Tindall Corp.*, 375 S.C. 36, 40-41, 650 S.E.2d 81, 83 (Ct. App. 2007). In *Richardson*, it was necessary for the Supreme Court to examine the meaning of "setoff" in section 144 to answer the question before it. Not only was the meaning of setoff "necessary to" the court's decision, *it was the central issue in the case*. Thus, *Richardson's* holding concerning the meaning of setoff was not dicta, and the circuit court should have followed it.⁵

D. The circuit court was bound to follow *Richardson* by *stare decisis*; the doctrine is particularly important in the construction of statutes and legislative intent.

"No rule is more deeply imbedded in Anglo-American decisional law than *stare decisis*." *McCall v. Batson*, 285 S.C. 243, 255, 329 S.E.2d 741, 747 (1985) (superseded by statute on other grounds) (Chandler, J., concurring). "*Stare decisis* exists to 'insure a quality of justice' which results from certainty and stability." *State v. One Coin-Operated Video Game Mach.*, 321 S.C. 176, 467 S.E.2d 443, 446 (1996) (quoting *McCall*, 285 S.C. at 256, 329 S.E.2d at 747).

Stare decisis is particularly important where, as here, a court is construing a statute or determining legislative intent.

Indeed, the doctrine of *stare decisis* enjoys particular efficacy in the context of challenges concerning the construction of statutes and determination of legislative intent. . . . "It is manifestly in the public interest that the law

⁵ Other courts have followed *Richardson*. In *Rowzie v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, the Fourth Circuit noted that *Richardson* held setoff as used in section 144 did not "serve as a general prohibition against all reductions of automotive insurance based upon PIP/MedPay coverage." 556 F.3d 165, 168 (4th Cir. 2009). In *Mount v. Sea Pines* (which was cited favorably by the circuit court's order), this Court noted that *Richardson* "stated that the set-off prohibited by section 38-77-145 was 'the tortfeasor's reduction in liability formerly allowed by section 38-77-290(f).'" 337 S.C. 355, 358, 523 S.E.2d 464, 465 (Ct. App. 1999).

remain permanently settled. Especially is this so in the construction of statutes, for if any change in the statutory law is desired, the General Assembly may readily accomplish it."

Wehle v. S. Carolina Ret. Sys., 363 S.C. 394, 402, 611 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2005) (quoting *Powers v. Powers*, 239 S.C. 423, 427, 123 S.E.2d 646, 647 (1962)).

"Legislative intent, once determined, is 'permanently settled' absent subsequent action by the General Assembly to effect a change in the statutory law." *Id.* Moreover, "[w]hen a statute which has been construed by a court of last resort is included in a codification of laws thereafter adopted, without significant change in phraseology, the presumption is that the legislature intended to adopt such a construction." *Layton v. Flowers*, 243 S.C. 421, 424, 134 S.E.2d 247, 247-48 (1964). This presumption becomes even stronger with the passage of time. *Id.* See also *Wehle*, 363 S.C. at 405, 611 S.E.2d at 245 ("[T]he General Assembly's inaction following the entry of the final judgment [by the supreme court in interpreting a statute] is entitled to consideration.").

Here, the Supreme Court has already determined the legislative intent behind section 144. It is therefore "permanently settled" under *Wehle* and *Powers*. Moreover, following the Supreme Court's 1993 decision, the Legislature in 2000 re-codified this section at 38-77-144. Although the Legislature changed the "must" in the last sentence to "shall," every other aspect of the section was preserved. Thus, not only did *Richardson* permanently settle the meaning of section 144, the Legislature presumptively adopted *Richardson's* interpretation when it re-codified the section in 2000.

II. The circuit court erred in substituting its interpretation of legislative intent for the South Carolina Supreme Court's interpretation as set forth in *Richardson*.

A. The circuit court's determination of the legislative history and intent behind 38-77-144 was flawed.

According to the circuit court's analysis, in abolishing mandatory PIP and the no-fault system, the Legislature *increased* the PIP coverage required to be provided by insurers who voluntarily offer PIP.

The circuit court's determination of legislative intent was based on "the absence of a provision allowing setoff for workers' compensation benefits where one previously existed." (R. p. 5). Its reasoning was based on the following facts:

- Prior to 1989, PIP coverage was mandatory in South Carolina.
- Because PIP was statutorily mandated, the only exceptions to the duty to provide PIP were set forth by statute.
- The statutory exceptions for mandatory PIP included that PIP payments were to be reduced by amounts received through workers compensation.⁶
- In 1989, the Legislature ended mandatory PIP, deleting all references to PIP in Title 38 and 56, including the exceptions to mandatory PIP coverage.

From this, the circuit court extrapolated: "Because the exclusive list of exceptions from the duty of the PIP carrier no longer exists, no exception to the PIP carrier's duty to pay exists." (*Id.*).

The conclusion that by abrogating mandatory PIP exceptions, the Legislature intended they become mandatory coverage in voluntary PIP policies was not supported by logic nor law. These exceptions were a fundamental component of the mandatory system—when a statute mandates coverage, the exceptions to that coverage must also be provided by statute. Their deletion, along with the rest of the mandatory PIP statutes, demonstrated nothing more than the Legislature's stated intent of ending mandatory PIP.

⁶ Other exceptions included the recovery of PIP "from more than one policy or insurer on either a duplicate or supplemental basis," or by a person intentionally causing an accident, occupying a stolen vehicle, or committing a felony. 38-77-290(a); 38-77-310.

If, as the circuit court held, each exception to mandatory PIP became required coverage under voluntary PIP, the following former exceptions would now be mandatory coverages under PIP policies:

- Injuries caused by intentional acts, S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-310 (1976, repealed by 1989 S.C. Acts 148);
- Injuries caused while operating stolen vehicles, *Id.*;
- Injuries occurring during the commission of a felony, *Id.*;
- Injuries occurring while failing to stop for law enforcement, *Id.*;
- Finally, stacking of PIP would become mandatory. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-290(a) (1976, repealed by 1989 S.C. Acts 148)

The last bullet point is particularly illustrative as to the circuit court's error. Under mandatory PIP, insurers were expressly permitted to prohibit stacking of PIP and to reduce PIP by workers' compensation payments. This was accomplished by the exceptions in section 38-77-290, subsections (a) and (d), respectively. Under the circuit court's conclusion that the deletion of section 290's "exclusive list of exceptions" left "no exception to the PIP carrier's duty to pay," the anti-stacking exception of 290(a) would now be prohibited. Thus, the circuit court's reasoning is irreconcilable with *Richardson* and with the circuit court's own acknowledgment that section 144 does not prohibit anti-stacking provisions. (R. pp. 8-9).

There is no support for the conclusion that the Legislature intended the mandatory no-fault system exemptions to become required coverages where PIP is provided voluntarily. Such a construction of the Legislature's intent should be rejected, as it would result in many absurdities, among them being mandatory coverage for intentional acts and injuries during the commission of a felony. *See Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Rollison*, 378 S.C. 600, 612, 663 S.E.2d 484, 490 (2008)

(in construing a statute courts should reject an interpretation when such an interpretation leads to an absurd result that could not have been intended by the Legislature).

B. *Richardson's* interpretation of the legislative intent was correct.

1. The Legislature has had twenty-two years to amend section 144 if *Richardson* misinterpreted its intent, and has chosen not to do so.

Richardson was decided just four years after the Act at issue. The context surrounding the elimination of mandatory PIP (discussed below) would have been more apparent to the *Richardson* court than a court in 2015. Additionally, if *Richardson* had misconstrued the legislative intent, the Legislature has had twenty-two years to correct it and has chosen not to do so. In fact, in 2000, when it re-codified the section at 144, the Legislature had the opportunity to alter the language in section 144 and chose not to.⁷ See *Wehle v. S. Carolina Ret. Sys.*, 363 S.C. 394, 405, 611 S.E.2d 240, 245 (2005); *Layton v. Flowers*, 243 S.C. 421, 424, 134 S.E.2d 247, 247-48 (1964).

2. Pre-1989 confusion concerning the availability of a tortfeasor's PIP setoff provide context for the legislative intent as determined by *Richardson*.

The circuit court cited *The Law of Automobile Insurance in South Carolina* four times, but did not refer to it when discussing the 1989 Legislature's intent in drafting section 144. *The Law of Automobile Insurance* notes the 1989 Act at issue was in response to "public outcry over high automobile insurance rates." (5th Ed., p. V-25).⁸ It noted that PIP "had the worse [sic] loss

⁷ See, *The Law of Automobile Insurance in South Carolina*, 5th Ed., p. V-27:

Section[] 38-77-145 was erroneously repealed by 1997 S.C. Acts 154. This repeal raised an issue about whether PIP was subject to set-off and subrogation. This was not the intent of the S.C. General Assembly, and this provision was recodified by 2000 S.C. Act. No. [344] which provided that PIP is not subject to subrogation or set-off."

⁸ This pleading cites the 5th Edition of the treatise as that is the edition cited by the circuit court.

ratio of any first or third party automobile insurance coverage in South Carolina" and the "abolishment of statutory PIP coverage was one of the Legislature's "major savings items." (5th Ed., p. V-25). In other words, the Legislature's intent in 1989 was to decrease the amount of PIP insurance sold in the state, not to *increase* the coverage required.

Additionally, confusion over the existence of a tortfeasor's ability to set off PIP benefits prior to the 1989 Act explains the Legislature's decision to prohibit that setoff in section 144. *The Law of Automobile Insurance* explains that before the 1989 repeal of mandatory PIP, there was confusion over whether the Legislature intended for a tortfeasor to receive a setoff.⁹ Due to the repeal of another section of the PIP code in 1978 "it was assumed the Legislature wished to do away with all right of set-off." *Id.*, p. V-17. However, to what extent the right to setoff survived the 1978 amendment "was the subject of considerable debate." *Id.*, p. V-18. *See also* 1981 S.C. Op. Atty. Gen. 54 (noting "some ambiguity has arisen with respect to" whether the Legislature intended to eliminate a tortfeasor's right to setoff in the 1978 amendments to the PIP statute). It was this "confusion," "debate," and "ambiguity"—over whether a tortfeasor could setoff PIP benefits at trial—that the Legislature sought to resolve when it explicitly prohibited setoff in section 144.¹⁰

The 6th Edition was substantively the same. The 7th Edition, published in 2015, omitted the historical discussion of this topic.

⁹ It appears that the application of the statute allowing a tortfeasor's setoff of PIP was confusing and controversial from mandatory PIP's 1974 inception. *See* Joseph F. Anderson Jr., *Note, The South Carolina Insurance Reform Act Part I: No Fault and Contributory Negligence—A Synopsis and Appraisal*, 26 S.C. L. Rev. 705, 720-21 (1975) (noting, for example, confusion and ambiguity over whether a tortfeasor's setoff was allowed for PIP coverage in excess of \$1,000).

¹⁰ This is consistent with a Conference Committee report adopted by both Houses of the General Assembly just before Act 148 was passed which stated: "If a (sic) insurer does voluntarily sell PIP coverage . . . it may NOT be assigned or subrogated and may not be setoff [from the

3. The text of the statute is inconsistent with the circuit court's conclusion.

In addition to being contrary to *Richardson* and the legislative intent, the circuit court's interpretation of setoff was contrary to the text of section 144, because it would *mandate* the provision of PIP coverage even where the parties to an insurance contract agree the coverage is excess. It is well settled that in interpreting a word or phrase used in a statute, "[c]ourts should consider not merely the language of the particular clause being construed, but the word and its meaning in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law." *See, e.g., Hernandez-Zuniga v. Tickle*, 374 S.C. 235, 247, 647 S.E.2d 691, 697 (Ct. App. 2007).

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