THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAY 23 2016

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-42-1578
Appellate Case No. 2016-000177

WADETTE COTHRAN and CHRIS COTHRAN,.....Respondents,

v.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE
COMPANY and ROBERT TUCKER,
Defendants,

Of whom State Farm Mutual Automobile
Insurance Company is theAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Logan Rollins
P.O. Box 5048
Spartanburg, SC 29304
Telephone: 864-574-8801
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Plain Meaning Rule Requires That The Decision Of The Circuit Court Be Affirmed.

A. The case can be decided without looking beyond the text of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-144.

The dispositive issue in this case is whether Plaintiff Wadette Cothran is entitled to collect under her State Farm PIP policy when the policy provides, under its "Workers' Compensation Coordination" clause, that "[a]ny personal injury protection coverage

provided by this policy applies as excess over any benefits recovered under any workers' compensation law or any other similar law." Section 38-77-144 states, in its entirety,

There is no personal injury protection (PIP) coverage mandated under the automobile insurance laws of this State. *Any reference to personal injury protection in Title 38 or 56 or elsewhere is deleted.* If an insurer sells no-fault insurance coverage which provides personal injury protection, medical payment coverage, or economic loss coverage, *the coverage shall not be assigned or subrogated and is not subject to a set off.*

(Emphasis Added).

As the South Carolina Supreme Court has articulated:

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature. Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning. What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.

Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E. 2d 578, 581 (2000) (Internal Citations and Quotations Omitted). Furthermore, “[i]t is settled law that statutory provisions relating to an insurance contract are part of the contract, and that a policy provision which contravenes an applicable statute is to that extent invalid.” Boyd v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 260 S.C. 316, 195 S.E.2d 706 (1973).

Under current PIP law, PIP coverage is “not subject to a set off.” It is clear that a PIP carrier, under the law that existed before Act 148 of 1989 repealed mandatory PIP coverage, was not required to make payment if workers’ compensation insurance had already made payments to the injured insured. Section 56-11-150 (later recodified as Section 38-77-290(d))¹, provided an “*exclusive list* of exceptions from the duty of a PIP insurer to pay benefits.” Benat v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co., 286 S.C. 132, 133, 333 S.E.2d 57, 58 (Ct. App. 1985) (Emphasis added). As noted in State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Richardson, 313 S.C. 58, 437 S.E.2d 43 (1993), Act 148 of 1989 repealed mandatory PIP coverage and made it optional, and these “sweeping reforms in automobile insurance law” specifically included a repeal of “Section 38-77-290 [formerly the Section 56-11-150 referred to in Benat].” Richardson at 62, 45. The now-repealed § 38-77-290(d) stated,

¹ See Maybank et al., The Law of Automobile Insurance in South Carolina, 5th Ed., V-19 (2002).

Benefits payable under the coverages *required to be offered* by section 38-77-240 must be reduced to the extent that the recipient had recovered benefits under workers' compensation laws of any state or the federal government.

(Emphasis Added). SC. Code Ann. Section 38-77-290(d) (Law. Co-op. 1989 quoted in Burnet R. Maybank, et al., The Law of Automobile Insurance in South Carolina, V-19, 5th ed. 2002). Even when set off for workers' compensation benefits was allowed, it was for only mandatory PIP coverage—not for voluntarily purchased coverage.

The former law, therefore, mandated a PIP setoff for workers' compensation benefits that had been paid (“must be reduced [. . .]”) for mandatory PIP. Pre-1989 PIP law “also allowed assignments to hospitals, physicians and other medical providers, so long as the provider did not require assignment of benefits as a condition of treatment.” Maybank, et al., The Law of Automobile Insurance in South Carolina, V-19 (2002). When the original, mandatory PIP law was enacted, it also allowed a “tortfeasor setoff,” as analyzed below. Furthermore, the Legislature contemplated allowing the PIP carrier to subrogate against the money paid by the “tortfeasor” (i.e., the liability insurance carrier) rather than allowing the “tortfeasor” a setoff for what was paid by the PIP carrier but decided against it because the “Legislature felt that *a setoff provision would be more economical and administratively feasible than a provision allowing subrogation by the first party insurance carrier* [i.e., the PIP carrier].” Maybank, et al., The Law of Automobile Insurance in South Carolina, V-16 (2002). Id. (Emphasis Added). It is important to note that, even when set off and

subrogation for PIP were allowed, the Legislature determined that it was not “feasible” and not “economical” to allow the PIP carrier to be the entity to assert subrogation and assignment rights against non-PIP coverage—the very thing that State Farm is alleging it is entitled to do in the case at bar based on the law as it exists after the “sweeping reforms” noted in Richardson eliminated subrogation and set off from PIP law.

The Legislature’s “sweeping reforms” in 1989 that made PIP optional clearly, in the word of the current statute, “deleted” assignments, subrogation, and set-offs, including any formerly permissible instance of subrogation, assignment, or set off that was found in “*exclusive list of exceptions from the duty of a PIP insurer to pay benefits.*” Benat, 286 S.C. 132, 133, 333 S.E.2d 57, 58. Under South Carolina Law, “It is well settled by our decisions *that the code as adopted is the general law and the omissions are lost.*” Independence Ins. Co. v. Independent Life & Acc. Ins. Co., 218 S.C. 22, 31 61 S.E.2d 399, 403 (1950) (Emphasis Added). Because the exclusive list of exceptions from the duty of the PIP has been “deleted” by the current § 38-77-144, the PIP carrier’s defense to paying benefits based on a set off that was included in that list has likewise been “deleted.”

Clearly, the former law allowed this setoff for PIP coverage that was “required to be offered” (i.e., formerly mandatory PIP) so that it was set off by amounts paid by a workers’ compensation insurance carrier. The former law also allowed assignment, and the Legislature considered allowing subrogation by the PIP carrier against other coverage. Accordingly, the absence of a provision allowing set off for workers’ compensation benefits

where one previously existed clearly evidences the legislature's intention that Section 38-77-144 was the comprehensive Legislative statement concerning the issue of when PIP must be paid and who could allege an interest as a result of the PIP payment. Under the current Statute, "no personal injury protection (PIP) coverage [is] mandated." An insurance carrier that chooses voluntarily to sell PIP coverage must provide it with the understanding that it is not subject to assignment, subrogation, or set off.

The only statutory provision in existence that may form the basis of duties to pay PIP coverage or rights of persons to assert an interest in PIP coverage that has been paid is the current Section 38-77-144, as the entire history of PIP coverage (and the jurisprudence interpreting it) that existed prior to the 1989 amendment has been expressly "deleted."

Accordingly, under the current state of South Carolina PIP law, any policy provision that constitutes a "set off" must be invalid. South Carolina law makes clear that denominating first party automobile coverage as "excess" to another policy of a different statutorily classified coverage is, by definition, a setoff. The form of coverage that is probably closest in kind to PIP coverage (i.e., another form of first party, automobile coverage) is underinsured motorist coverage ("UIM"). UIM is defined, under S.C. Code. Ann. Section 38-77-160, "to provide coverage in the event that damages are sustained *in excess of the liability limits* carried by an at-fault insured or underinsured motorist." As the Supreme Court held in Broome v. Watts, 319 S.C. 337, 341, 461 S.E. 2d 46, 48, this "excess"

denomination constitutes a setoff: “The very definition of UIM insurance mandates *a set-off*.” (Emphasis Added).

More importantly, the credit claimed in connection with PIP coverage itself has been called a set off. The South Carolina Supreme Court formerly determined that the credit claimed by the liability insurance company for the money paid by the PIP insurance company was, by definition, a set off (“We termed this tortfeasor liability reduction [after the PIP carrier has paid its PIP coverage] a ‘set-off’ in Moultrie v. North River Ins. Co., Inc., 272 S.C 53, 249 S.E.2d 158 (1978).” State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Richardson, 313 SC 58, 437 SE.2d 43 (1993). That is, if the credit alleged by a third party carrier against PIP coverage is, by definition, a set off, then then the credit alleged by the PIP carrier against third party coverage must also be termed a set off.

The Moultrie Court noted, in fact, that the PIP carrier’s assertion that it could claim credit for liability payment was a “setoff” that was invalid because the statute “only requires *a setoff* by those persons who have already received benefits from their own carrier,” and not by the PIP carrier who sought a setoff for the payment of insurance proceeds that exist outside of the first party PIP relationship. Moultrie at 56, 159. (Emphasis added). Despite State Farm’s contention that “tortfeasor” must be read literally, the history of PIP setoff law makes clear, in every case cited above, that “tortfeasor” has traditionally signified third party insurance, and not the natural person who was the literal “tortfeasor.”

State Farm goes to great lengths in its arguments not to state outright what its position in this case must be in order for it to have any semblance of consistency. State Farm states repeatedly that its policy provision is merely a permissible “excess” coverage provision. It states that the circuit court “circumvented” the question of what a setoff is by “presupposing a clear and specific definition of setoff” and applying the plain meaning rule instead of applying State Farm’s asserted interpretation of Richardson. (Def. Brief at 13). The insurmountable obstacle to assenting to State Farm’s position is that the word that State Farm wishes to insist applies to the policy provision at issue in this case, “excess,” is not addressed in the Richardson opinion. That is, to benefit from the Richardson language that State Farm asserts must be interpreted so as to allow its “excess” policy provision requires accepting the language of the Richardson opinion that a “setoff” applies “only” to the “tortfeasor.” Therefore, in order to rely on Richardson, State Farm must, if only tacitly, acknowledge that its denial of coverage in this case is based on the fact that it is alleging a “setoff” for workers’ compensation payments. If it does not assert that it is alleging a “setoff,” then its reliance on Richardson, however tenuous to begin with, is entirely unfounded. Its position, after all, is that Richardson allows a “setoff” for any entity other than a tortfeasor. Once State Farm is forced to admit that what it asserts is a setoff, its proposed interpretation must run smack into the inscription on the wall that is the statute: “the coverage [. . .] is not subject to set off.”

II. Richardson Does Not Support State Farm’s Position.

A. *Richardson* did not resuscitate the statutorily eliminated workers' compensation setoff; instead, Richardson applies only to the stacking of PIP coverage.

State Farm alleges that Richardson allows a setoff to be alleged by a personal injury protection insurance carrier. In Richardson, a State Farm insured was injured in an automobile accident and claimed PIP benefits on two State Farm PIP policies. State Farm alleged that Richardson was entitled to only one. In Richardson, State Farm denied that its policy had a set off provision, and *it denied that the issue of a set off was before the Court*. Instead, in Richardson, State Farm “contend[ed] that its policy comprise[d] an anti-stacking clause *rather than a set-off*.” Id. at 60, 44. (Emphasis Added). The policy provision at issue in Richardson was not the setoff, or “excess,” provision at issue in the case at bar but one stating that “the total limits of liability under all such policies shall not exceed that of the policy with the highest limit of liability.” Id. at 58, 44. That is, the prohibition at issue in Richardson related only to the *stacking* of multiple policies of the same type of coverage (PIP) and did not address denominating the PIP policy as excess to a non-PIP policy held by a third party to the PIP Insurer—PIP Insured relationship. Under South Carolina law, stacking is defined as “the insured's recovery of damages under more than one policy until the insured satisfies all of his damages or exhausts the limits of all available policies.” Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Shives, 328 S.C. 470, 473, 492 S.E.2d 808, 810 (Ct. App. 1997). Perhaps the most commonly stacked coverages are uninsured motorist (“UM”) coverage and underinsured motorist coverage, and the stacking of those coverages

is governed specifically by statute. See S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160 (Supp.1996). Construing specific statutory language, we have held an insured is entitled to stack underinsured or uninsured coverage in an amount no greater than the amount of coverage on the vehicle involved in the accident. To this extent, stacking cannot be contractually prohibited. Where none of the insured's vehicles is involved in the wreck, however, stacking of underinsured or uninsured coverage may be prohibited.

Ruppe v. Auto. Owners Ins. Co., 329 S.C. 402, 405-06, 496 S.E. 2d 631, 632 (1998). (Internal Citations and Quotations Omitted). According to the Supreme Court, coverage that is “not statutorily required” may be precluded from stacking by the terms of an insurance policy because parties are free to choose the terms of coverage that is “not governed by statute,” and “[t]he guiding principle to be gleaned from our current stacking law is that stacking may be prohibited by contract if such a prohibition is consistent with statutory insurance requirements.” Id. at 406, 633

Accordingly, the Richardson Court merely reaffirmed this longstanding precedent that stacking of non-mandatory coverage may be lawfully prohibited *when it does not conflict with any statute* when it held that a PIP insurer’s policy “may prohibit the *stacking* of non-mandatory coverage.” Richardson. at 61, 45 (Emphasis added). Because § 38-77-144 prohibits subrogation, assignment, and set off but does not prohibit a restriction of stacking, Richardson correctly held that the carrier could prohibit stacking of PIP policies.

State Farm seeks to have this Court revive the “deleted” PIP law that allowed refusal of payment of PIP coverage prior to the enactment of § 38-77-144; instead of the “exclusive list” of exceptions to payment, however, State Farm seeks to have this Court adopt a new rule that allows any entity to allege a set off based on any payment from any source—with the single exception that the “tortfeasor” may not allege a set off for payments already made by the PIP carrier. As noted above, the position State Farm now advocates that allows the PIP carrier to receive credit for payments made by third party insurance was rejected by the Legislature as not “feasible” and not “economical” even under the former law that allowed subrogation, assignment, and set off. See Maybank, et al., The Law of Automobile Insurance in South Carolina, V-16 (2002).

Under State Farm’s line of reasoning, § 38-77-144 is a “one way street.” That is, the “tortfeasor” that is a third party to the PIP insurer-PIP insured cannot allege a setoff against PIP payments, but the PIP carrier may lawfully allege a setoff against any payment from any source whatsoever. Specifically, if State Farm’s reasoning were adopted, the PIP carrier would be able lawfully to allege a setoff for money paid by the “tortfeasor” (i.e., the liability carrier) if the Richardson language that setoff is not allowed by “only” the “tortfeasor” is adopted literally.

That is, because the PIP carrier is not the “tortfeasor,” the PIP carrier could withhold payment pending the adjudication of liability against the tortfeasor, and, in the event that the award the PIP insured received from the tortfeasor exceeded the amount of PIP coverage,

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